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Until the lions have their own historians, the history of the hunt will always glorify the hunter.


African proverb, quoted by Chinua Achebe in ‘The Art of Fiction’, Paris Review no. 139










Prologue
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I open my eyes to death.


But I’m still here. Why hasn’t she claimed me?


Apparently it’s my birthday tomorrow; not yet thirteen.


Yet nobody knows I exist.


Each of the days melt into one long stretch.


Weeks fly by.


Endless.


I’m no longer afraid of the dark.


The blackness, warm.


*


Breathe.


Footsteps.


Is anyone out there?


I hope not.


Happy to stay here.


Forever.


If that’s what it takes.
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PART ONE










Chapter One
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Dikembe


1903


We sat under the tall limba tree that day, with no idea these were the last days of paradise.


The branches and leaves cowered over us, a welcome protection from the blazing afternoon heat. Behind, an uneven, sandy path through a row of trees which flourished majestically under a hazy sky. This was me, almost every day, cloaked in the familiarity and comfort of my favourite spot with my favourite brother, Kabili. Close enough to hear Mama calling for help with a chore, yet far away enough for the illusion of solitude, free to privately discuss pressing issues of the day, such as what it would be like to catch the multicoloured thick-toed gecko currently moving towards the top of a tree.


‘I almost caught one yesterday!’ said Kabili, my elder by three years. I believed the beginning of his story to be true because I’d never doubted anything from his mouth, even if Kabili was well known in the family for telling half-truths. Just like when he insisted he’d been involved in the killing of the ram Mama served up last Sunday; an unfounded boast because everyone knew Kabili was the first to vomit at the sight of dripping blood.


Being the youngest in my family, a host of questions permanently rested on the tip of my tongue – how do you outrun a gecko? the least important of them all.


‘Kabili . . .’


‘Yes, brother?’


‘Where do you go . . . when you go with them?’


The sound of my name punctured the moment.


‘Dikembe!’


Even when raised, my mama’s voice rang sweet inside my ears. Being the youngest of five and likely to be her last, I believed that of all her sons, I was the special one. I only felt this because she constantly made me feel this way with her words. Whispers mixed with an aroma of freshly made stew as we stood over a cooking fire: ‘A good child, that is you.’


Mama often complained that not having a daughter meant being unable to pass on how to prepare the tastiest of dishes for the home, yet I was a willing student, soaking up all she was willing to teach about cassava, or the importance of banana leaves, whilst also being able to spend precious moments with her, as if I still remained attached to her breast. My older siblings, which sometimes included Kabili, would accompany our father on journeys outside the village and be gone sometimes for weeks at a time. Mama said they were working with my father in the timber trade. My father was a skilled craftsman and sculptor who had been taught by his own father, a skill I one day hoped to master. My favourite carving of his was a footstool melded around the shape of a man with an elongated head, which he had sold at market. However, I hadn’t seen anything he had made lately as my father no longer carved at home. Mama explained that my father and brothers now simply worked away, yet I’d also never seen any items they had made. On the few occasions I got to sit with him, it was with an audience of others. He did sometimes speak lovingly of the trees of his childhood. I once asked if he could take me back to where those trees stood, and his expression hardened.


Luckily, in a few short years, I would also be joining my brothers and father at work, and I would be able to see for myself what they did. For now, though, my happiness came when nearest to my mama, hearing her talk, laugh, or just entwined in her arms on a floor mat, lying in comfortable silence – as if waiting for something to interrupt the delicious contentment.


At the age of nine, my journey into manhood seemed to trudge along slowly.


Kabili was now twelve and regularly accompanied my father and brothers out of the house to work. They would return spent and would retire straight after Mama (with some help from me) had served an evening meal. Kabili would complain that work was not what he had imagined it to be and that he wished he too could stay home.


I couldn’t understand why he would say this. When I asked as much, he glanced at me with what I could only describe as anger, as if I had said something wrong.


Of course, I still enjoyed my time with Mama, but an envy often nestled deep inside me which refused to leave. I was no longer content to be an outsider looking on as my kin embarked on a mission to feed and clothe the family.


Men worked the land and toiled, whilst women kept the home.


I was not yet a man, but this did not stop me from counting the days until I would be allowed to join my father and brothers.


Home was a wooden hut under a palm-frond roof that housed everything we would ever need: mats for sleeping, a space to store our clothing. We lived away from the main village, an area I was forbidden to venture into. I was only allowed as far as ‘our tree’ and when I once asked why, my mama just said she would beat me if I disobeyed her. She said this with tears in her eyes and this, along with the fact she had never beaten me in my entire life, confused me. So I basked in the joy of sitting by my mama’s knee listening to stories of the past, until I succumbed to the afternoon sun, falling asleep with my head in her lap as the sound of her sweet humming danced into my ears.


I never went past the tree.


Until, one day, I made a decision.


‘Are you saying you don’t want to stay with your mama any more?’


Mama didn’t appear angry and I was relieved by this. I had simply grown tired of hearing the triumph laced in Kabili’s voice as he reeled off tales of exploits with our father and older brothers; as they chopped wood and carved the pieces into shapes and styles to sell on; of the dangers they faced from cheetahs who hid in trees. I was ready to take up the mantle of manhood that each of my brothers already held on to. I was ready to contribute to the upkeep of my family – even though I was actually unsure of what this truly meant, only what I imagined it to be.


When I believed that momentous morning to have arrived, I approached my father.


‘Not yet, my son.’


My father did not approve of outbursts of emotion, so I swallowed mine down as best I could, yet couldn’t help but be brave enough to ask, ‘Why?’ None of us ever questioned our father and up until that moment, I had never had reason to. Most of my time had been spent with Mama anyway, and talking to my father wasn’t something I knew how to do easily. But I felt this injustice deeply and needed to know the answer to my question.


‘I said, not yet.’ His words were firm and spoken with a finality that saddened me. He quickly pulled away and drew my mama into a private communication. I couldn’t hear their words, but she held her face to her hands as my father rested his palms on the back of his head. Their bodies spoke of defeat, but I could not imagine what for, as I had only asked to accompany my father and brothers to work. I was ready. Surely this was a good thing?


The following morning, I watched as my father and brothers prepared for work. They very seldom ate before they left, but Mama sent them off with provisions which they would eat as soon as they got to their work destination. I followed closely behind them, managing to remain hidden, thanks to the welcoming presence of a line of trees which covered my tiny frame as I sprinted from bark to bark, my chest puffed out and mimicking how my father and brothers moved, face upturned and shoulders erect, just like one of those trees. With Mama I had felt safe and warm, but with my father and my four brothers, Kabili, Yogo, Djamba and Pako, I felt a surge of energy I was not familiar with. I hoped to observe them long enough for me to learn everything I could about how they spent their days and see perhaps why I had not been allowed to accompany them. My aim was to be back home before Mama even noticed I had gone. The trees were sparse so there was always a danger of losing sight of my family as I trailed behind and attempted to remain out of sight. I was certainly relieved when they reached the edge of the stream and stopped. Two men dressed identically in blue jackets and red fezzes on their heads greeted my father. They reminded me of the birds I had seen a few times, with coats the brightest of blue, yellow beaks and red-topped heads. This amused me until I noticed what looked like weapons of some sort tucked under their arms.


I slapped away a fly and may have made a sound of annoyance, and it was Kabili who looked back and towards me. Kabili, who sometimes knew what I would say before I said it.


It was always going to be him.


Our eyes locked.


The man in uniform now had his hand on my father’s shoulder, and it seemed to me that my father began to shrink before him. My tall and brave father, now in an instant shorter in stature, as this man raised his voice to him in a language I did not understand.


None of what I was witnessing made any sense to me. My father ran a timber business and had taught my brothers everything they knew about wood. So why was he taking an order from another man, whilst my brothers looked on as if this were an everyday occurrence?


My mind attempted to explain what I was witnessing, just as the second man spoke hurried words to my brother Pako, before raising his hand and bringing it down upon the right side of my brother’s face with a force I never knew was possible.


I gasped and then covered my mouth.


I waited for my father to spring into action, but the silence felt piercing and prolonged because he did nothing. Even as Pako helped himself to his feet, my father simply watched as if he could not see what I saw.


My expectation grew into a state of confusion.


Once the uniformed men had moved away, Kabili walked quietly towards my hiding place.


‘Dikembe, I knew it was you!’


‘But what of Pako and—’


‘You better go home or else I will tell our father! Go, Dikembe. Go!’ he hissed.


I felt his hand on my back as he shoved me in the direction I had come from. Kabili had never treated me in this way before. We were the closest of brothers. I knew him the best and he knew me. However, in that moment, I did not recognize him.


‘You must go back to your mother,’ said my father, finally noticing my presence as he walked towards us. My body was inches away from collapsing into the tantrums of a toddler. I wanted to go with them. I also wanted to ask who those men were and why they had struck my brother, and why my father had done nothing.


Instead, he did something that day I had never witnessed him do with any of us boys before: he knelt down to my height and placed each of his hands in mine. The small world around us seemed to cease. His touch was unfamiliar yet welcome, his hands drier and coarser than my mama’s; instead of her sweet aroma, the scent of sweat.


‘Listen, my son, this is no place for you. Not now, and if I can help it, not ever. You go back to your mother now before they see you. We will not tell her about this.’


‘But—’


‘Go now, before they see you!’


‘Who are they?’


‘Oh, Dikembe,’ he sighed.


I looked into his eyes and once again saw something I had never seen before in those rare moments when I had got this close to him.


Now, in his eyes, was fear.


I blinked rapidly, blocking the emotion threatening to embarrass me in front of my father, let alone my brothers, who in that moment I had forgotten about.


‘Dikembe, you will do as I say. You will go home.’


Something in his voice lacked the firmness I was used to and I felt sad, so desperately sad. ‘I will go home.’ I turned and ran as fast as I could from the unfamiliarity of that moment back to the safety of the cooking fire.


And my mama.


It was nightfall before they returned. Impatience lodged in my throat because for once I wanted Kabili to explain every detail of what had happened. But as soon as we boys had eaten, Mama and my father became embroiled in a deep conversation with no place for childish chatter.


‘They are talking about the white men again,’ whispered Kabili as he shrugged his tired shoulders. Ever since he had begun accompanying my father and brothers, Kabili often appeared sleepy and ready for slumber whilst I still had enough energy to run around the yard many more times.


I had a thousand questions. ‘Who were those men, this morning?’


‘I must sleep, Dikembe.’


My brother, usually so full of stories, gave no answer.


‘Why did they do that to our brother?’ I said.


‘This work is not easy,’ he mumbled as he lay on the floor, head resting in his palm.


That night as my father and brothers slumbered, I felt a restlessness which did not allow for sleep. A hollowness resided in my chest, a space that could only be filled by my mama.


She was outside, scrubbing the pot she’d used earlier to cook the cassava leaves.


‘What is it, my Dikembe?’ She tilted her head to the side.


‘I am unable to sleep, Mama.’


She smiled, placing the pot to one side.


‘Come,’ she said.


We sat close together on the floor, and with her damp hand she smoothed my head, humming the same tune as always and yet one I had never asked the name of. I simply enjoyed the way it danced unapologetically into my ears, sounding delicious and familiar. Her smell – like the sweetest of fruit – allowing me to slowly succumb, surrender to the night time. I wanted to ask her about what I had seen, but if I did that, she’d know I had defied her.


‘My Dikembe,’ she said.


‘Yes, Mama.’


‘My last born. Mwana muya.’


‘Yes, Mama,’ I said.


The way she exhaled and patted my shoulder with a graceful hand told me what was to come – and a fizzle of excitement rose within me.


I looked up at her face as she began my bedtime story.


‘There were once two kings who ruled our land. The red king is named Nkongolo Mwamba, and he is a cruel king and very unforgiving. He does not know how to control what he does and he is a brute.’


‘He is not nice, Mama.’


‘He is not. But the good king is named Mbidi Kiluwe, remember?’


‘Yes, Mama.’


‘He has beautiful dark skin and it shines, even in the night. They call him the black king, and he is the one who brought a great civilization to our lands. His voice is very soft, and he knows how to behave. He is good, just like you.’


‘Yes, Mama.’


‘This is why I call you a good child.’


I nodded my head.


‘He knows how to control himself.’


‘He sounds much nicer than the red king, Mama,’ I said, stifling a yawn.


She placed the back of her delicate hand onto my cheek and smiled. ‘You must always be like Mbidi. You must always be the black king.’


I opened my eyes the next morning before dawn, which should have been the first indication something was amiss and unbalanced. Usually, my brothers and I would remain sleeping until the cockerel crowed, each of them stepping over me in a race to wash first. There was seldom enough water left for me in the container and I hoped this time, I wouldn’t have to fetch more or go to the stream and wash with our neighbours.


My father had left alone, ahead of my brothers, as he sometimes did, with Mama saying he had an important meeting with the village elders and ‘decisions needed to be made about the future’. He had set out early, promising to be back before sunset.


Ina Balenga was our closest neighbour. She lived nearer to the village and had a gap in her teeth. She often brought yams or the ripest mangoes for my family, which I suspected was just another excuse to sit and talk endlessly with Mama. Mama referred to her as a good friend and my father called her a gossip. To me, she was just a lady who brought us delicious things to eat, and one of only a few people other than my family that I saw often.


Today, though, she came empty-handed, her lips quivering over her gapped teeth as her eyes searched towards the floor. ‘Where is your mama?’ she said. I tried to find her gaze, but she refused to meet mine.


‘She is out back.’


‘I will wait in the house,’ she said.


She sat on the floor, on the mat Mama had placed there earlier. I offered her some water which she declined. I wanted to ask her why she wasn’t smiling, why I could no longer see the gap in her teeth.


Like the events of the previous day and waking up before the sound of the cockerel, this was unfamiliar and slightly unsettling.


When Mama returned, Ina Balenga failed to greet her the usual way. This was a greeting bereft of ‘womanly laughter’ as my father called it; instead, they remained inside, talking quietly while I waited outside the hut as Ina Balenga had instructed.


They remained inside for the longest of times, even after my brothers had returned home. I flinched at the raised sounds coming from our house, which sounded not unlike an injured animal. Forever obedient, Kabili and I stayed put, but our three older brothers, Yogo, Djamba and Pako, rushed inside.


Minutes later, when my brothers emerged from the house, their faces were fresh with tears. This I did not understand because men were not supposed to cry, my father always said so. He had not actually told me that, but had said as much to Pako, who then relayed it to me passionately as I tearfully folded myself into Mama’s arms after falling over outside.


I moved closer to the sound of the wounded animal, which now sounded closer to its demise, pain, fear and sorrow etched into one long agonizing howl.


I peered inside and Ina Balenga was comforting my mother, her hand smoothing the braids on my mama’s head as she sat in front of her. My mama’s hands were curled into fists, beating her own chest. Ina Balenga spoke hurriedly as Mama continued this physical onslaught, screaming her pain – and I wanted to run to her, console her just as she’d done for me on so many occasions. I was her last born, a good child, her special child, and it was my job to do so!


Ina Balenga stood and turned to me, halting my approach. Her face was awash with tears.


‘What is it, Ina Balenga?’ I asked.


‘Your father . . . it is your father. The Belgians. The Force Publique.’


I could no longer hear Ina Balenga’s voice. I did not know what some of her words meant anyway; my mind remained locked on the image of my mother so distraught she was beating herself.


‘I do not understand, what do you mean?’ I said, watching my mama carefully as she fell silent, her mouth parted, her eyes open but without focus, her whole demeanour like a goat about to be slaughtered when it no longer has the strength to fight.


My legs became weak and unsteady as I began to perceive the seriousness of what had happened, even before Ina Balenga said quietly, ‘They killed him, Dikembe. Your father is dead.’










Chapter Two
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Dikembe


1903


At first I believed I had done something wrong.


Mama did not speak and no longer beckoned me into her arms for comfort. She no longer even acknowledged me – or anyone. Instead, when I attempted to meet her eyes, she would simply look away, her focus on anything but us, her children. Ina Balenga and her daughter brought us food and made sure we still tended to the yard. The daughter would help Mama dress whilst Ina Balenga plaited her hair. Mama could only utter her discomfort at how tight it felt, whilst I was simply happy to hear her voice even if her words never mentioned my father or any of us.


It did not feel so strange at first to have not seen my father for many days. He and my brothers often went away for long periods to work. The longest he’d been away before was when he’d tended to his own sick father in another village. I had never met my grandfather or anyone in our wider family, and I remember begging to accompany him. It had been my grandfather who had made the bone necklace my father always wore, after all. So, I did not understand why I was not permitted to meet him. That time he had returned with a limp and blood on the side of his leg. He said he’d fallen over in the bush and no one dared question it. Yet now, I would give anything for him to come home, along with those afflictions. But this time would be different. He had now travelled to a place far away from any of us and apparently would never be returning, and this finality felt like a permanent blow to my stomach, yet still not as painful as seeing my mama cry every single day since it had happened.


A different kind of life began to exist in an unfamiliar haze. I was no longer able to spend any time with just my mama, without others around us. Although the visitors were not plentiful, there were enough for glimpses of her to remain hidden by another person, the sound of her voice smothered by the wailing of another.


My brothers had not been around since the day after our father had been taken from us, having travelled out to work, their tears not even dry. So I was reduced to listening to snippets of information from the people in my home, although most were in whispers.


‘They tried to overthrow them.’


‘He was a brave man.’


‘A stupid man – why could he not just leave it be? Did he believe it would be different for him when others before him had failed? It’s never going to change and now he has paid with his life!’


I soon began to miss my mama even as much as my father.


The familiarity of the area in which I had lived my entire life now appeared disrespectful somehow. The crooked sandy path which led to the tree I was never allowed to walk past; the happy birdsong; the unrepentant existence of mahogany, iroko and limba trees. My father had taught us all there was to know about these trees and yet it felt that they had turned against him by simply staying the same, never bending to the grief that had infected us all.


When my brothers finally returned home after a month away, I immediately cornered Kabili, pleased to finally have somebody I could express my confusion to.


‘I have missed you, Kabili,’ I said, as my brother began to remove the dirtied clothing he had been wearing. He had not said much since his arrival; indeed, he had not even looked at me.


‘Kabili, have I done something wrong?’ I asked when he didn’t speak.


‘Maybe if you weren’t such a baby, you would be coming with us, then you would see.’


‘See what?’


This was not the Kabili who’d left the day after they had taken my father. This was an older, angrier version who felt so very far from me, even though he stood close enough for me to feel the fury in his breath.


‘You have no idea what they sacrificed for you!’ His gaze shifted from the tip of my head to my feet. ‘The good child, the special child!’ His voice was laced with a venom I had never heard from him before.


I sat under our tree alone and drew a nonsensical shape in the sand with a twig. I no longer recognized my own life and those who occupied it.


At least the sound of humming was familiar, and I assumed my mama had finally come outside to embrace me; then I realized the sounds were coming from my own mouth.


1904


My father had been gone for some months now. My brother Pako, who liked to keep a check on everything and everyone, perhaps wanted to step into his place. I could easily tell he was trying to fill the space left by our father, yet failing in my eyes because there’d never be anyone like him. I felt both resentful and relieved that Pako was at least attempting to take up the mantle.


I saw Mama standing in the yard one day, her face in her hands, repeating my father’s name over and over again. My brothers just stood and watched helplessly as I, without any thought, ran to her. Her words turned to hums, and even if it was just instinct kicking in, she embraced me anyway, kissing the top of my forehead. It was the comfort I had longed for and, as I closed my eyes, soaking up this goodness, I realized that maybe she had needed this too.


Sometimes, the afternoon sun would render me helpless as I slowly succumbed to sleep. One such day I was awakened by my mama’s heightened voice, which soon turned into screams. I followed them to the front of the hut, in time to see my brother Djamba limping towards her with the aid of my brother Pako.


‘What have they done? What have they done?’ she screamed. I rubbed at my eyes, recalling with a chill in my chest the last time I had heard her scream like this.


I walked closer to the scene, my brother’s right arm wrapped in what used to be white cloth, now stained with the stark redness of his blood.


‘What have they done?’ my mother kept shouting. My brother simply shook his head, his mouth pursed shut. Why was he not speaking?


‘What have they done to my son? Where are the rest of my children?’


It was as if Pako’s ears were clogged with leaves, ignoring Mama as he helped Djamba onto the ground and bent over him to further inspect his wounded arm. I moved closer to them. My eldest brother looked up and we briefly made eye contact. It was only now that I noticed how much he resembled our father. The mark on the bridge of his nose was not the only similarity, but his presence, which you could feel as soon as he stood before you; a silent strength you could either admire . . . or fear.


‘Go back inside, Dikembe. Now!’ he commanded. I wanted to tell him he had no right to ignore our mama, and that he was not my father and I didn’t need to listen to him.


Djamba squinted his eyes and made a sound.


‘Go!’ said Pako.


I quickly did as I was told and headed inside our home, accompanied by my mama’s questions: ‘Why? Why?’


Djamba appeared to be in a trance, even when he struggled to eat using his left hand, which was not something I had ever seen anyone do before. Mama kept the wound clean and wrapped, but I was surprised when Djamba prepared to return to work with the others after just two days.


‘Why are you going to work now, my brother, should you not be resting?’


‘I will be back tonight,’ he said without looking at me, as if to do so would reveal an anger towards me which had no reason to exist. Surely my older brothers loved me as I loved them? Although we had never really spent much time together as they were always at work, there was this underlying and silent kinship which would always keep us close – we were bonded together by blood.


‘You are wounded. How can you work?’


‘What do you know about work, little brother?’ The way he said the word brother sounded like it was something laced with dirt from the ground.


That night, I asked Mama if Djamba hated me.


She could only stare towards me blankly, which I guess in my mind confirmed he did.


That night, my brother Djamba returned home alone. The two of us fell asleep without words and hours later, I shot up quickly as if awakening from a trance. The light of the moon shone upon the space usually occupied with three others, as well as illuminating Djamba’s face. My gaze shifted to his bare arm where the cloth had fallen away during the night. My stomach flipped, my mouth agape at what I saw. Convincing myself I was in a dream, I struggled to fall back to sleep.


*


The rest of my brothers returned a week later and my heart lifted upon seeing Kabili. My fears that he remained angry with me were unfounded, as he reeled off stories of a wild beast who had stared at him as he chopped wood.


‘I believed he would eat me!’


‘What did you do?’ I asked.


‘I fought it to the ground of course, brother! What else?’


Despite the tallness of his tales, I was happy to hear Kabili spin them. It was like it had been before. Almost.


That evening, Kabili and I stood outside our hut, listening to the raised voices of Pako and Mama.


‘He tried to stop them and now it is our duty to continue what our father started!’ said Pako in a tone that sounded more determined than usual. I did not understand much of what he spoke of, only Mama pleading with him, begging him to put an end to such thoughts.


‘You must not do this!’ she screamed.


‘Why? You know what they have done to the rest of our lands. The only reason they have left us alone till now is there is less to reap here! Instead, they are using our bodies to carry items much too heavy and without enough food or water. When will Dikembe be next? Or you? Do you know what they do to the women? They not only work them to death like the men, but they force them to lie with them. They beat them, they—’


‘Stop your words! Your father made sure Dikembe and I were safe here. He spoke to one of the chiefs who assured him that we would never be forced into any of it—’


‘Ah, yes, the same chief who signed away our land thinking they were friendship pacts! Those idiots?’


‘Pako, where is your respect?’


‘Lolo, please,’ he said, sounding so much younger than his years. ‘There are children smaller than Dikembe working for these people. They work the trees in the forests and they carry goods for the men and . . . and . . . they are very . . .’ His voice broke, but only slightly. ‘What they did to Djamba is nothing!’


My questions, whilst plentiful, couldn’t get past Pako’s tone. If our father were alive, my brother would never have spoken to Mama in this way.


‘No! You do not do this! You do not!’ she screamed.


‘Our father said we should never bend to the enemy. Never!’ Pako’s raised tone had returned. ‘He was ready to fight and so am I!’


‘Do you want them to do to you what they did to your father? For me to actually see your lifeless body with marks around your neck where they hanged you like an animal? Holes in your body where they shot you? The elders did not allow me to see your father’s body. They all said I would not be able to live after such a sight. But yours I would see, because I would insist on it. I would make sure of it! Is this what you want for me to endure? Have I not suffered enough?’


I almost toppled where I stood, unable to process the words that had fallen from my mama’s lips. The words were almost as awful as the sound of weeping, which I realized was coming from Pako.


I ran away from the sounds and straight into Kabili’s path.


‘What is it, Dikembe?’


‘Let us go. Let us just go.’


He followed behind me just as I knew he would. My heart raced along with hurried steps, my bare feet unconcerned with the tiny stones lodged between my toes.


I did not stop until I got to our tree, a place I had not been with my brother for some time. Questions rested on my lips, not unlike how they used to. This time, instead of enquiring about a simple gecko, I wanted to ask more about my father’s death. Had Kabili seen his body? How had he been killed? As most of what I had heard were just parts of stolen conversations, Mama’s description was the most vivid yet. But, as I opened my mouth to speak and nothing came out, it was clear that something deep inside me had made the decision for me.


‘Would you like me to tell you the story of the time I climbed up a giraffe?’ said Kabili, to which I nodded my head.


1905


The first time I saw a white man, I was taken aback at how pale he looked.


I had decided to follow my brothers again one early morning. I had planned to be back home before Mama even realized I was gone.


When he spoke in my native tongue, my fascination quickly waned. Were these men just like us, yet paler and perhaps more prone to the harshness of the sun? I’d heard my father tell Mama more than once just how much he hated their presence in the neighbouring villages, and that they should go back to their own country. At the time I had not understood.


They were dressed in a lighter uniform to that of the black men who had struck my brother the last time I had ventured far enough away from our hut. The red hat I would never forget, the hardened expressions with dark foreheads dripping with sweat. What they carried were rifles and I only knew this now because Kabili had told me.


The white men began shouting orders at my brothers and a group of other men who had joined them. Pako, the most hot-headed of all of us and so much like our father, Mama would say, simply did as he was told. His shoulders hunched, inches seemingly taken off his height.


Again, and just like with my father before, I waited patiently for a retaliation which simply did not come.


According to Pako, our father had been gone for long enough that my mama’s tears should have eased, but I suspected they were about more than my father’s death.


I was no longer allowed out of her sight, and as my brothers still worked away for days, or even weeks at a time, it was mostly just Mama and me with hardly any visitors, just Ina Balenga on occasion.


More than ever, I was keen to say and do such things as I assumed would please my father, to fight the feeling that nestled deep inside me – one that told me I was beginning to forget what he even looked like.


When I had said as much to Mama, she simply said, ‘Every time I look at you, Dikembe, I see him.’


One day, Mama appeared, dressed in a patterned cloth my father used to compliment her on. I was sitting alone under the mid-morning sun before it became too hot to tolerate.


‘I am hungry,’ I said, standing and circling my arms around her waist. I could feel the disapproval of each of my brothers, even though they had not been home in days.


‘What do you have to be hungry for, did you not just eat?’ She placed my palm into hers and it felt like the power of life. I looked up at her and squeezed her hand, just in case she was about to let go. ‘Come, my Dikembe. We must speak.’


I began to sort the questions in my head, deciding which to ask first as we sat under my favourite tree, cross-legged.


Whenever she smiled, which was a rarity these days, my heart would lift, that one act filling me with warmth more satisfying than the sun, and with it an optimism that could not be quantified. Little did I know that within minutes it would be marred with a request that I, at first, could not understand, and when I did, would make me want to run away from my tree and the sanctuary of my mama as fast as was humanly possible.


Ignoring my tears, Mama told me to remain calm and to listen as she explained once again.


‘We have been struggling ever since your father was taken from us.’


‘Yes, Mama, but why does it have to be me?’ The force of my tears affected my voice as if I were a toddler rather than a boy of ten. I didn’t care, though. Nor did I care what she or my brothers thought, and as such allowed my tears to defiantly flow down my cheeks. ‘No, Mama! I don’t want to!’


I had never shown such disrespect to her or any elder, but I was falling deeper into an abyss and there was no one waiting at the bottom with open arms, no one to hold me and tell me I didn’t have to do this. The only person who could save me was the very person pushing me down the hole!


She shifted closer to me. ‘You are always saying you want to work, like your brothers. Now is your chance.’


My head buzzed with confusion. What I’d seen of my brothers’ work so far terrified me, but I was willing to partake in it because it was my birthright as a member of this family. Yet what Mama spoke about was something I knew my father would not have liked. Something I had never, ever considered would be asked of me.


‘You are the one who can help our family, Dikembe. You want to help us, no?’


I nodded my head weakly.


‘It would not be for long, don’t worry. Remember, you are like Mbidi Kiluwe, the black king, and you must do what is right.’


‘Yes, Mama,’ I said, in between streams of tears.


‘You must do as they tell you, even if it seems like something you do not understand or are not clear about. When that happens, just think about what the black king would do.’


‘But why—’ I began, as her delicate finger pressed against my lips.


‘Please, Dikembe.’ My mama also began to cry, which only increased my distress.


‘Listen, my child,’ she said, wiping her eyes with her hands. ‘Your father would want this. He always protected this family and he would want you to do this.’


Her words confused me. My father had always spoken ill of the white man; I was the youngest and not the eldest, so why had Pako not been tasked with this? Perhaps the real reason was that Pako was her favourite and not I.


My mama’s own explanation was simpler as she slowly placed my father’s bone necklace over my head.


My breath caught in my throat quickly. The last time I had seen this necklace was around my father’s neck. Had he been wearing it the day they shot and then hanged him?


‘You will wear this,’ she said, smiling through her tears.


I ran my fingers over the beading and then smoothed them over the claw-like spikes which hung down my chest. I could not speak.


‘You are the last born and your father wanted a different life for you. He would want you to have his necklace too. You children and this necklace are all I have left of your father and now it . . . it belongs to you,’ she said, rearranging each of the claws to decorate my neck.


My mama’s clumsy attempt to appease me with the necklace only made me react more at the unfairness of what was being asked and for actually wearing it, an honour I had not earned. Instead, I was about to betray my father in the worst way.


‘Do you understand now, Dikembe?’


I nodded my head, tears blurring my vision.


Her voice no longer resembled sweetness but was laced with a desperation I hadn’t noticed before. ‘Look at me, Dikembe.’ She gently tilted my chin upwards. ‘Listen.’


The whites of her eyes reddened. I blinked rapidly, her face in and out of focus because of my own tears. ‘Yes, Mama.’


‘You are the only one who can do this.’


‘Yes, Mama.’


‘No one but you, Dikembe. Mwana Muya.’


My good child.










Chapter Three
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Each of my brothers lined up outside our hut in order of age: first Pako, Yogo, Djamba and then Kabili. Apparently, it was only through the kindness of the white man that they were allowed to be here for this goodbye. A gratitude I was unable to voice because I for one did not want to be there or for this to be happening at all. But at the age of almost eleven I had been tasked with looking after our family the way my father would have, by working and ensuring they would not go hungry.


‘Goodbye, Dikembe,’ Kabili said as I stared up at him. ‘I will miss you,’ he added in a whisper. He’d grown inches away from me, and now we were to be separated by an endless sea, two different countries and another language. I was headed to a land I had heard my father speak of many times, but always with disdain. If I just told myself I’d see him again soon, this would prevent any tears from falling. It would allow me to leave this moment as a man worthy of the necklace I wore around my neck.


‘I will see you very soon, brother,’ I said, my voice tinged with hope. I had no idea when this reunion would occur, though; Mama had said a month or slightly longer. I just knew that one day soon, I would see my brother, Mama and the rest of my family again.


All I needed to do was this one small thing. Wasn’t that what Mama had called it? Yet it didn’t feel small considering my brothers were able to stay here and with my mama.


The long sleeves of my robe felt itchy under the warm sun, but Mama had insisted I dress in my best clothes for the occasion.


‘I am happy you will be with an Englishman,’ said Kabili.


‘Why?’


‘Because he will not be like the white men here.’


This I did not understand.


Ina Balenga had come to wave me off and it was her I saw gently grip Kabili’s shoulder as I moved away, both with tears in their eyes. If I was due to return in a month or slightly longer, surely there was no need for tears?


It was my mama who accompanied me on that long walk through the village, past the now-permitted tree and into a clearing I had never seen before. It felt unfamiliar, as I had only ever known my mother within the proximity of our hut. What was also strange to me was that we were not alone. With us was a white man, with hair that looked slippery to the touch, and that did not match the thick grassy texture that lived above his lip. He was dressed in long boots almost up to his knees, and the three of us walked that dusty journey past scatterings of beloved trees my father would know the names of, mostly in silence, save for the large birds squawking overhead and the sound of his weight hitting the ground as he walked.


The man started to converse with my mama in our native tongue, his pronunciations not as clumsy as I would have assumed. I should have listened, but I was more intent on keeping up with them as they hurried along the sandy track. We stopped a few times for water; in the first village I spotted a commotion – a boy not much older than Kabili on his knees, holding on to a block of wood as another white man dressed in white stood over him, carrying what looked like a black snake but was actually a whip made from what I would learn later was hippopotamus hide. The same man addressed the crowd with warnings as two women dressed in robes, their dark foreheads glistening with sweat, looked on, fear in their expressions and in the way they stood, alert yet hopeless. The man in white turned to us and smiled. My mama looked away, as did the white man walking with us, yet I couldn’t keep my eyes from that scene.


‘Dikembe!’ called my mother, just as I turned back to her and a multitude of sounds mingled with that of the birds which flew above us.


We arrived at a village, where the white man walked away and Mama took my hand. ‘Come, Dikembe,’ she said.


I followed her to a hut where I lay inside the crook of her arms, falling asleep instantly, convincing myself that this was where my journey would end and that Mama of course would be staying with me.


‘Wake up, Dikembe!’ she said, as I rubbed at my eyes some hours later. Within minutes we were on that journey again, and between that village and our first water stop three men slowly passed by us, their necks and wrists bound in iron chains, as a white man, again dressed in white, walked behind them carrying a rifle. Beside him was a man who reminded me of my brother Yogo, though he was dressed in that uniform again with the red hat. I could not read the expressions of the three bound men, but one of them looked towards me and we locked eyes. He reminded me of my father – what I could recall of him – and I immediately felt helpless.


‘Dikembe, keep moving,’ beckoned Mama, as my gaze followed the back of the last man, his skin covered in welts, open and glistening under the rays of the sun. I watched until the men disappeared.


It was hours before we made our final stop, which landed us at a view that looked out over a very large expanse of water. I had never travelled this far away from my village before and perhaps if I had, what rested upon that water would not have come as such a great shock to me.


It looked so high it could have touched the clouds, this vessel, this ship like nothing I had ever seen before in my life. Mightier than the rhino Kabili claimed to have spotted and more magnificent than the tallest of trees!


I had not really believed it when Mama had said we would be seeing one, yet there it was, large and overpowering, a metal beast!


In the past I’d heard them described from the mouths of others and never thought to be privileged enough to rest my eyes upon one. I knew of the little curved river boats that some of the villagers used to catch fish, but they were surely like swarming flies next to this vessel that balanced itself perfectly on top of the water.


‘What do you think?’ asked the white man, whose name I had forgotten in the midst of my excitement. He stared at me with a sort of anticipation.


‘Say thank you to Mr Richard,’ said Mama, gently squeezing my shoulder.


‘Don’t be frightened,’ said Mr Richard.


I looked up at my mama and there were tears lodged in the corners of her eyes. Tears of happiness, I suspected.


‘This is the right decision,’ he said to Mama, as I moved closer to what Mr Richard explained was called a steamer.


There were a number of men already on board, and this made me hold back at first and proceed with caution, one small step at a time. They were all white, and I couldn’t be sure what they would do to me if I went any further. Perhaps they’d be nice like Mr Richard and not like the others. Yet, for a chance to be closer to the ship, I would have to risk my fate and hope I did not end up like my father or the men I’d seen in chains.


Now closer to the ship than to Mama, I glanced over at her and Mr Richard, who was placing a piece of cloth into her hand, which she used to wipe her eyes.


My gaze alternated between Mama and that ship, and when she ran towards me, I turned away from the beauty of it and allowed her to scoop me up. With a strength I did not know she had, she held me off the floor, right up there in her arms.


‘I love you,’ she said. This always sounded sweeter in our native tongue: Nkusanswa. I responded in kind, unsure of why her tears were so plentiful or why she tilted her head as if she’d just asked a question. I would be seeing her again very soon. A month, she had said. Or slightly longer. I was not leaving like my father. I would come home! Sure enough, the impatience I felt to return my gaze to the ship was greater than my need to stay in my mama’s arms. So I extracted myself from her embrace and followed Mr Richard onto a plank of wood I was sure would falter, and I would fall to my demise. Yet it was sturdy enough to take his weight and mine as the small cluster of men aboard stood watching, smiling. I nodded my head in greeting, the smoke from their cigarettes resting in my throat.


I so wished Kabili was here to see all of this.


Inside, the ship appeared much smaller than the outside.


‘Look, Mama!’ I screamed through one of the many windows. She looked towards me; I waved at her to come aboard but she slowly shook her head.


I ran off the ship and back to her, breathless. ‘I am not going for long,’ I said. Indeed, by the time I returned, I might be as tall as Kabili and everything would be as I had left it!


She bent and kissed my forehead. The vessel looked like it was already moving, and my stomach lurched with disappointment at the possibility I wouldn’t get to stand on it once more.


‘Come along now!’ called out Mr Richard. I looked at my mama again, but the sounds of the ship demanded my attention. She kissed me once more, this time on each of my cheeks and back to my forehead. It was as if she did not want to stop. Our hands released from one another as I quickly turned and jumped back onto the ship. Soon it was actually moving and on the water, the entire ship pulling away from where Mama stood. No one I knew had ever ridden on such a thing, and this felt like a wonderful dream I wished would never end. I waved at Mama but she had already turned away.


Looking back, if I had known – if I had just known – I would have tempered my excitement with questions, so many questions. Or I would have stayed on the shore and I’d never, ever have left my mama’s arms. I would have begged her forgiveness for whatever I had done to deserve to be sent away, and I would have insisted on staying in my village, with my brothers, with her. Or I would have gone back even further – to the time I had woken before the sound of the cockerel. I would have found my father that morning, held tightly on to him, and simply begged him to stay with us and forgo that meeting with the elders, not to leave that morning.


To stay.


To simply stay.










Chapter Four
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I could no longer count how many days we had been on that ship, only that, according to Mr Richard, we were edging towards a new year. The majority of the first leg I’d spent hunched over vomiting, or sleeping off illness and nursing an ache in my chest for my mama and brothers. It felt like a similar loss to what I had felt for my father, yet different too. Because along with it came the fear of living each day on a giant vessel that somehow managed to balance on an endless body of water, and with no one for company but white men who spoke in very loud voices and in a language I did not understand.


Luckily, Mr Richard spoke my language whilst the others made hand gestures to communicate with me, which thankfully wasn’t that often. He insisted I learn a little English but I found this very difficult at first, each syllable sitting uncomfortably on my tongue. When some of the men laughed at my attempts, it would only shut down any further efforts.


‘There is not much else to do on such a voyage home, so I will teach you all you need to know. I cannot have you picking up words from our boys here . . . the language of the average seaman is . . . what can I say . . . rather colourful. You shall also learn to write!’


Mr Richard was always talking, even when I just wanted to close my eyes and dream of my mama. He expected me to match his excitement at learning English, sitting on a ship strangely called the Lady, which was once an object of my joyful curiosity but now felt over-familiar, along with the contempt that came with it. It did not help that it smelled unsanitary and had long ago lost its shine. As had this adventure.


We ate a lot of beef with salt, which I did not like. I often wondered why there wasn’t much fish, considering we lived on the sea! I enjoyed the fried flour dumplings, as well as something called marmalade. Mr Richard scoffed when I discovered the joy of eating them together. However, my appetite was lacking most days as my stomach could not get used to the motion of the ship. Every time I failed to keep my meal inside, a burst of laughter from one of the sailors would follow as I bent over the side, heaving uncontrollably.


One such day, one of the kindlier men proffered a handkerchief and I simply looked at it.


‘It’s clean, lad,’ he said. That much I understood. I took it and wiped at my mouth, no longer embarrassed by my sickness as its frequency had brushed aside any modesty.


Slowly, as my seasickness abated, a smidgen of appetite returned, with Mr Richard insisting I eat as many dumplings as I wanted whilst he sat beside me, reciting more English words for me to learn. This ritual appeared to be the only shining light in that endless sea we remained on for what felt like an eternity, with not much else to do but eat and sleep.


I watched others prepare the food and clean the vessel and they were chores I longed to join in with as soon as my strength returned, but Mr Richard insisted I was never to engage in such ‘low-class activities’.


His response confused me.


We changed transportation more than once, each time to something even more magnificent in size and splendour. But the novelty of this was no longer able to excite me, as my body weakened with grief and something new. As I lay stricken in the bed of our cabin one day, Mr Richard wiped at my brow with a damp cloth, and said I now had something called the ‘flu’. I managed to ask a question which had rested on my lips for weeks now: ‘Why am I here?’ The room spun, and every ounce of my strength felt like it had been extracted from my body. I’m convinced Mr Richard could only put my question down to delirium, for it was a question I simply lacked the courage for when in good health.


‘You are accompanying me to England, dear boy, where you will live with me in my home. Your mother has explained this to you.’


‘As your servant?’


‘Who told you this?’


‘My mama.’


‘No, dear boy, that will never be your fate. How amusing of you to think so!’


This explanation at the time felt incomplete and insignificant to me because, plainly and simply, I just wanted my mama. But it was something to digest, as the cabin began to sway and a feeling of nausea invaded my stomach once more.


1906


We finally reached our destination, weeks or even months later; I could no longer tell! England and this long-awaited arrival had turned into an anticlimactic moment that I would not have even noticed, if not for the startling change in scenery. I had already experienced the stark difference in temperature the further we travelled on the ship, so the eye-watering breeze as we disembarked was not a shock – though the harbour, awash with white ladies, men and children, was. I had never seen a white woman before and they were adorned with long flowing robes and hats, whilst the men dressed in layers of clothing that would have caused them to sweat profusely back in my village. My own thin layers of clothing felt overly scant as I pulled the oversized jacket Mr Richard had given me closer around my shoulders.


‘When we get to the house, there will be plenty of clothes to keep you warm. Ones that fit!’ said Mr Richard with a smile.


My first ever trip in a motor vehicle should have been a cause for celebration, yet all I craved was a bed to rest my body after such a seemingly endless journey.


Mr Richard was explaining the mechanics of the machine to me, his voice triumphant. ‘The Darracq Flying Fifteen automobile isn’t owned by many on this earth and is fresh from France!’


I couldn’t be bothered to work out how he could have transported such a contraption to England . . . yet hadn’t he just done the same with me? My eyes flickered as the machine manoeuvred us on the road. A moment that should have matched the excitement of seeing the steamer for the first time was simply a prelude to much-needed rest; a desperate fight between wanting to drink in my new surroundings yet also wanting to just close my eyes and sleep. However, I remained engaged at the sight of such tall and stoic buildings, the strangely smooth path of the roads without a single pothole. It was only when I spotted another automobile on the opposite side of the road that it truly dawned on me that I was actually sitting in one!


When we pulled up at a building that shone brilliantly with artificial light, I felt a semblance of fresh energy.


I carefully stepped out of the motor vehicle and immediately looked up to the moon in the night sky – at least that was familiar to me. But as I turned my gaze to the steps, I noticed the outline of two creatures either side of the door.


I opened my mouth to speak, yet no sound could emerge.


‘Don’t worry, they are not real. Besides, I thought you’d be used to the real thing!’


I did not understand this comment; indeed, nothing made much sense. I was in a cold land where no one who looked anything like me existed, with two creatures made of stone staring down at me with menace, daring me to come closer, which I did, albeit very cautiously.


As I slowly climbed the steps which elevated me high up above the automobile, I soon recognized the creatures as lions, but with faces that appeared human to me; a ridiculous concoction, not that I would ever echo my distaste. Mr Richard clearly thought the stone creatures to be the epitome of taste.


‘Welcome to your new home. I think you’re going to have a wonderful time!’ he said grandly.


Each step sapped a little more of my strength than I had to give, and when I reached the top, the mouths of the creatures looked ready to consume me. I laughed at such silly thoughts. They were not real, after all.


Yet with hindsight I can now see that walking past those two beasts and into that house was the beginning of an ending that would change everything about my life forever.


Starting with my name.










Chapter Five
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As he breezed past me, the smell of alcohol and stale cigarettes followed behind him.


‘My office, please, Laura.’


I hated when my boss called me that. He knew how to pronounce my name and was just doing this to provoke a reaction. He wouldn’t be getting one.


‘I’m just finishing up, Mr Rice,’ I said, peeling off the thin disposable gloves. I’d just finished a shift at the university cafe and was ready to get out of here, even if it was to simply sit at home, watch TV or read a magazine. I dropped the gloves into the bin as I went after him.


‘Never mind all that.’ His voice was a command with not enough power to affect me as it did the other staff. Nevertheless, being summoned by Mr Rice couldn’t be good.


I followed him outside and into his ‘office’ – a cramped yellow van parked in the university car park.


‘Is there a problem then?’ I said, sliding onto the seat beside him. The van reeked of ash and coffee, the stains on the floor and dashboard telling the same story.


‘Laura . . .’ The pause was for dramatic effect, no doubt.


‘It’s Lowra,’ I corrected.


‘I’ve been told you haven’t been pulling your weight.’


I stared at him probingly: this was me pretending to care.


‘It has been brought to my attention that on more than one occasion, you have been asked to waitress at graduation ceremonies and you have refused.’


‘I’m a catering assistant.’


‘Sometimes they get short-staffed. It happens. Everyone has to muck in.’


‘I was hired as a catering assistant, Mr Rice. I don’t have any waitressing experience or a silver service qualification, so—’


‘So, it’s a university cafe, not a fancy restaurant.’


Mr Rice was one of those middle-aged men who’d probably never been good-looking even in their youth, ploughing all that pain into becoming the most successful one in the family and then choosing to look down at everyone else every chance they got. Little did he know I’d been up against worse than him.


‘I do the job I am paid to do, Mr Rice.’


I looked straight ahead through the window, now speckled with raindrops, and from the corner of my eye I caught the side of his mouth twitching. Idiot.


‘Fact is, we can’t afford to have complaints about our staff. This university’s a big contract.’


I nodded my head to show I was listening.


‘I get the feeling you’re not taking this seriously because you’re agency staff,’ he said.


My ‘don’t give a crap’ attitude about things often riled him, just as it did others, especially those who tried to pull me into some type of unwanted friendship. Most gave up trying, preferring instead to go along with the idea I was just a rude little cow, a loner, or both. Not that I cared. There wasn’t much in this world I actually did care about.


As long as I could muster up enough strength to step out of bed in the morning and turn on the shower, that was a win.


‘I do my job, Mr Rice. I don’t know what else you need me to do,’ I said, shifting to look out of the side window. I twirled the bottom of my hair with fingers still smelling faintly of bleach. I’d only just had it cut. The hairdresser had tried to make a connection with me: ‘Good job the bob hardly goes out of fashion – you’ve had the same style for years. You must really like it . . .’


Of course, her statement only led to surface talk and the odd lie. That I had been obsessed with the singer Betty Boo a couple of years ago and the hairstyle stuck. I wasn’t going to tell her the truth: that I had to have that style because it was the one she liked. The one she wore in my photograph and probably the same one she died in. I wasn’t going to say that.


My eyes focused on a little girl skipping past the greengrocer’s with a woman – probably her mother – trailing behind in a pair of pointy heels which had to be uncomfortable, or at the very least impractical for the task of running after a child. She caught up with the little girl, clasping her hand tightly, whilst almost yanking her arm out of the socket. It took everything in me not to jump out of the car and confront that woman.


‘Lowra?’


Not even his voice could drown out the image now forming in my head: of a woman, her brown hair in a bobbed haircut, bending down to kiss my hand, half the size of hers. ‘Lowra,’ she’d said – my name with an added Spanish flourish to the pronunciation.


‘Lowra, are you listening?’ he said, bringing me back to the present.


I took a sharp intake of breath. ‘Of course.’


‘Do better, or else I’ll have to take you off that site. All the others are full, so . . .’


‘You’ll sack me if I get another complaint, is that it?’


‘I would have to let you go, yes.’


He’d have to let me go from what? A job that didn’t even pay sick leave and hardly put enough food on the table?


‘It won’t happen again,’ I said, with a lack of emotion I knew he’d find frustrating.


That same day at home, I did what I usually did after working the early shift – I sat in front of the television, not really concentrating on anything. Yet this was better than sitting there in silence, alone with my thoughts. That was never a good thing. Thoughts led to more thoughts and then to more, until—


The sound of the phone startled me. No one ever rang except cold callers trying to sell double-glazing or timeshares, and I hardly gave my number out. There was no one I needed or wanted to keep in touch with that much. Plus, there was a safety in keeping myself to myself. Marnie from work dared to ask for my number once, and I pretended not to hear her. Recently, she’d overstepped her place in my life by turning up at my home without an invite. I had no idea how she’d even found me, considering I had just said, ‘I live on the Boston Estate, fifth floor.’ At the sound of the intercom, I’d basically cowered in the corner of my lounge, hoping she couldn’t hear me breathe, even though it sounded louder than it usually did, my hands covering each of my ears, eyes squeezed shut. Some might find me weird for doing this, but my flat on a council housing estate in Croydon was more than just a building, or even a home – it was where I felt safe from everything and everyone. Letting just anyone through the front door wasn’t something I could do without any preparation and thought.


I stared at it, the telephone on a stand in the lounge, waiting for it to stop ringing, that intrusion into my private space. It did. Finally.


Some might think having spent almost three years in a noisy children’s home with eight girls in one room had a lot to do with why I valued my space so much.


But that wasn’t it.


I’d left the children’s home twelve years ago at the age of eighteen, with keys to a new rented flat, a grant, and no idea of what to do next. I was meant to start living life as an adult apparently, and in a world I knew nothing about.


My social worker may have been helpful, but really everything was now my responsibility. The bills, a flat, my life, everything; and these required skills I’d never been taught.


The money I received from the government every two weeks was useful, but I’d always run out mid-month because I spent most of it on takeaways, having never learned to cook anything more than beans on toast. I also began to get used to red letters falling through the letterbox. Silly, really, because I’d always have enough money to pay them but just hadn’t got into the habit of doing so on time. It’s not as if I ever went anywhere, and I hardly bought myself things most teenaged girls did, like make-up and fancy clothes. Then again, I wasn’t like anybody else. At the age of eighteen, I was content enough to sit in my flat most days and just think. Overthink, some would say. Thoughts of my dad and my mother as I sat staring at the one photograph that existed of the three of us together, as a family. Thinking about what could have been if only she’d lived. If only they’d both lived.


When I was nineteen, I took an afternoon computer course at the local college and a Spanish one in the evening – perhaps it was all too much, too soon, because I only lasted a month before I quit both.


My life suited me and never really changed – until I reached the age of twenty-five years old. That’s when I started to feel not a part of it. Like someone looking in on another person’s existence, I started to feel like I wasn’t in my own body, disassociated from everything and everyone around me. People tried to get close to me, whether it be at my job or in the library, when all I wanted to do was be distracted by the books. I even started going out with a boy, who said I was pretty after watching me carefully weigh four oranges in the greengrocer’s.


It never felt like I was actually participating in any sort of real life.


I’d watch people on television having more of a real experience than I ever could. I wanted to feel something, anything. So when my boyfriend touched me with his fingertips and I felt the sensation against my skin, I craved more, yet at the same time I was terrified, allowing him to go further because I just wanted to feel. But then it was as if he forgot I was there and just continued with what he was doing, his breath hoarse, his excitement escalating as he asked me over and over again if I ‘liked this’. I couldn’t answer as once again I simply ended up looking down at this person being touched, kissed, probed, and feeling no connection to her whatsoever.


It wasn’t long after this that I started to feel like the comfortable world I had cultivated for myself wasn’t mine any more. The boyfriend wanted to come round too often, spend time with me, even rearrange my flat. He spoke about the future, our future, whilst all I could ever feel was a sense of panic until he left me alone and I could be in my room, safely by myself. But here’s the thing: it – my home, my life – no longer felt safe. It felt contaminated, and I didn’t know who I had become, if that makes sense.


It made sense at the time and then it didn’t, and when it didn’t, that’s when all I could see was nothing.


I stood up and rolled my neck to ease the tension the ringing phone had caused. I looked for things to do around the flat. I puffed up a pillow and ran my finger along the TV cabinet. Of course there was no dust, as I kept my small flat fantastically clean and presentable even though I was usually the only one who crossed the threshold. On the rare occasions a repairman walked through my home, it felt like an intrusion. Their angry boots stomping all over the floor, each step as if they were crunching the bones of my torso, and feeling faint when one asked to use the toilet, making sure to disinfect the whole area twice over before I could even think of using it again.


I took the phone off the receiver.


*


At work the next day, Marnie caught up with me just as I was about to finish my shift at the university.


‘Fancy a drink?’ she said.


‘Bit early for me.’


‘Lunch?’


‘I have some leftovers waiting for me at home. I’ll grab that before my evening shift.’ The agency had recently offered me work in a local gym cafe.


Marnie linked her arm in mine and I stiffened, quickly manoeuvring myself away from her strong grip.


‘Come on,’ she said. ‘We can make an afternoon of it. I have a couple of hours until I go get the kids.’


‘Maybe a quick bite . . .’ I agreed, whilst trying to ignore the deep feeling of unease resting in my chest. Marnie was nice enough but she asked too many questions. We’d worked together for two years and I knew everything about her: two kids, a husband who snored, and a dog who weed itself whenever a firework went off – and yet it was all information I had little interest in. It was only after I’d overheard one of the other girls saying something about me being ‘weird’ that I said yes to one of Marnie’s frequent invitations to lunch. Not because I particularly cared what others thought of me, but because it was Marnie who’d stood up for me, told the girl to ‘fuck off’ and that ‘Lowra’s a lovely girl if you bothered to get to know her!’


Ironic really, because Marnie didn’t know me at all. I was polite to her, as I was to all my colleagues, and perhaps she had mistaken my silence for being a good listener. But she had defended me and I wasn’t used to that, so I felt she was at least worthy of an hour of my time now and again – however uncomfortable and unnatural it felt. As long as she never made unwelcome visits to my flat again . . .


Marnie scanned the laminated menu as a large man in a white apron stood over us.


‘I’ll have a tea, and the ham and cheese panini, please,’ she said happily.


‘I’ll have the same . . . but with tomato. Thanks.’


‘I like tomatoes too. Just not in a toasted sandwich because it makes it go all soggy.’


She seemed to be pleased at extracting yet another bit of useless information about me, however pointless.


The sandwich tasted surprisingly good. The excuse of a full mouth prevented any responses to the barrage of questions coming from Marnie, and for that I was grateful. She said something about being glad we were ‘friends’ but I just smiled and chewed.


There were numerous ways my life could have turned out. The one that seemed most like a fairy tale yet tied in with what really could have been was the one where Marnie would not have existed in my life. That life would have been full of chums made at a fee-paying school, I suppose, and by now I would have been living in a house just down the road from where I grew up, in a seaside town miles from here, with regular trips to my parents’ nearby as well as to Valencia, my mother’s favourite city and where a lot of my childhood holidays were spent. I may even have had a husband and a handful of children by now. Perhaps a dog too; a white fluffy one that also peed over the carpet when a firework went off. In that life I’d smile almost every day, and people would comment on just how much I looked like my mother.


Of course, in reality, if I looked closely enough at the photograph I carried in my purse, it was my dad I looked more like. Thin, long nose, slim lips and an oblong-shaped face, whilst my mother’s resembled a love heart – at least that’s how I saw it. A large, beautiful love heart! Whilst her olive skin was clearly a shade darker than mine, along with my Spanish name I’d inherited enough of my mother’s genes to look, as Marnie once described it, as if I’d ‘just come off holiday!’


Marnie was talking once again about holidays now, happy enough with my nods of encouragement. ‘I’ve always wanted to go to Italy, visit the Colosseum and all that. I wanted my other half to take me there on our honeymoon, but we went to Bognor instead. He’s such a cheapskate!’


My stomach tensed because I knew what was coming next.


‘How about you? Been anywhere nice?’


I answered her question by reeling off a fake trip to Devon I was yet to take. My ‘regret’ at never having been abroad. Omitting to mention the frequent trips to Spain I remembered from my childhood. The accompanying murmurs and nods of her head told me I was giving her what she needed, though, which was a description of a life that basically didn’t exist. If I told her the truth about the first half of my childhood, it would have read differently: passport at the age of five, regular trips with my parents, and long hot summers in Valencia. The sunshine, sea and fancy foods served to a child who at that age couldn’t really appreciate them. Splashing about in a pool bathed in a neon light; running on an open field under a scorching sun; my beautiful mother leaning towards me in a swimming costume and oversized straw hat and wiping sticky melted ice cream from my chin; my dad calling me a ‘messy pup’. And the laughter. So much laughter.


‘Tell me more about this holiday you’re going on this summer, Marnie. America, isn’t it? Disney with your husband and the kids?’ I asked cunningly.


‘Don’t get me started on all that. The kids want America but Rod says we’re going to that new one in France.’


Beyond the guise of wanting to talk about me, Marnie really just loved talking about herself. She was no different from anyone else who attempted to get to know me. Most people were simply in a rush to talk about themselves, using interest in my life as a ruse. And as the relationship progressed, their ‘love’ for you simply became about how you made them feel and nothing much more than that. The boy who said he was my boyfriend had taught me that.


Yet everyone seemed to crave these relationships – except me, of course. I had absolutely no interest in anyone or anything.


My interest was simply to survive.




OEBPS/images/img_0002.jpg





OEBPS/images/img_0001.jpg





OEBPS/xhtml/toc.xhtml






			Cover



			Title page



			Contents



			Dedication page



			Epigraph page



		Prologue



		PART ONE



		Chapter One



		Chapter Two



		Chapter Three



		Chapter Four



		Chapter Five



		Chapter Six



		Chapter Seven



		Chapter Eight



		Chapter Nine



		Chapter Ten



		Chapter Eleven



		Chapter Twelve



		Chapter Thirteen



		Chapter Fourteen



		Chapter Fifteen



		Chapter Sixteen









		PART TWO



		Chapter Seventeen



		Chapter Eighteen



		Chapter Nineteen



		Chapter Twenty



		Chapter Twenty-One



		Chapter Twenty-Two



		Chapter Twenty-Three



		Chapter Twenty-Four



		Chapter Twenty-Five



		Chapter Twenty-Six



		Chapter Twenty-Seven



		Chapter Twenty-Eight



		Chapter Twenty-Nine



		Chapter Thirty



		Chapter Thirty-One



		Chapter Thirty-Two



		Chapter Thirty-Three



		Chapter Thirty-Four



		Chapter Thirty-Five



		Chapter Thirty-Six



		Chapter Thirty-Seven



		Chapter Thirty-Eight



		Chapter Thirty-Nine



		Chapter Forty



		Chapter Forty-One



		Chapter Forty-Two



		Chapter Forty-Three



		Chapter Forty-Four



		Chapter Forty-Five









		PART THREE



		Chapter Forty-Six



		Chapter Forty-Seven



		Chapter Forty-Eight



		Chapter Forty-Nine



		Chapter Fifty



		Chapter Fifty-One



		Chapter Fifty-Two



		Chapter Fifty-Three



		Chapter Fifty-Four



		Chapter Fifty-Five



		Chapter Fifty-Six



		Chapter Fifty-Seven



		Chapter Fifty-Eight



		Epilogue









		Acknowledgements



		Author’s Note



		About the Author



		Copyright page











Guide





			Cover



			Title page



			Contents













		1



		2



		3



		4



		5



		6



		7



		8



		9



		10



		11



		12



		13



		14



		15



		16



		17



		18



		19



		20



		21



		22



		23



		24



		25



		26



		27



		28



		29



		30



		31



		32



		33



		34



		35



		36



		37



		38



		39



		40



		41



		42



		43



		44



		45



		46



		47



		48



		49



		50



		51



		52



		53



		54



		55



		56



		57



		58



		59



		60



		61



		62



		63



		64



		65



		66



		67



		68



		69



		70



		71



		72



		73



		74



		75



		76



		77



		78



		79



		80



		81



		82



		83



		84



		85



		86



		87



		88



		89



		90



		91



		92



		93



		94



		95



		96



		97



		98



		99



		100



		101



		102



		103



		104



		105



		106



		107



		108



		109



		110



		111



		112



		113



		114



		115



		116



		117



		118



		119



		120



		121



		122



		123



		124



		125



		126



		127



		128



		129



		130



		131



		132



		133



		134



		135



		136



		137



		138



		139



		140



		141



		142



		143



		144



		145



		146



		147



		148



		149



		150



		151



		152



		153



		154



		155



		156



		157



		158



		159



		160



		161



		162



		163



		164



		165



		166



		167



		168



		169



		170



		171



		172



		173



		174



		175



		176



		177



		178



		179



		180



		181



		182



		183



		184



		185



		186



		187



		188



		189



		190



		191



		192



		193



		194



		195



		196



		197



		198



		199



		200



		201



		202



		203



		204



		205



		206



		207



		208



		209



		210



		211



		212



		213



		214



		215



		216



		217



		218



		219



		220



		221



		222



		223



		224



		225



		226



		227



		228



		229



		230



		231



		232



		233



		234



		235



		236



		237



		238



		239



		240



		241



		242



		243



		244



		245



		246



		247



		248



		249



		250



		251



		252



		253



		254



		255



		256



		257



		258



		259



		260



		261



		262



		263



		264



		265



		266



		267



		268



		269



		270



		271



		272



		273



		274



		275



		276



		277



		278



		279



		280



		281



		282



		283



		284



		285



		286



		287



		288



		289



		290



		291



		292



		293



		294



		295



		296



		297



		298



		299



		300



		301



		302



		303



		304



		305



		306



		307



		308



		309



		310



		311



		312



		313



		314



		315



		316



		317



		318



		319



		320



		321



		322



		323



		324



		325



		326



		327



		328



		329



		330



		331



		332



		333



		334



		335



		336



		337



		338



		339



		340



		341



		342



		343



		344



		345



		346



		347



		348



		349



		350



		351



		352



		353



		354



		355



		356



		357



		358



		359



		360



		361



		362



		363



		364



		365



		366



		367



		368



		369



		370



		371



		372



		373



		374



		375



		376



		377



		378



		379



		380



		381



		382



		383



		384



		385



		386



		387



		388



		389



		390



		391



		392



		393



		394



		395



		396



		397



		398



		399



		400



		401



		402



		403



		404



		405



		406



		407



		408



		409



		410



		411



		412



		413



		414



		415



		416



		417



		418



		419



		420



		421



		422



		423



		424



		425



		426



		427



		428



		429



		430



		431



		432



		433



		434



		435



		436



		437



		438



		439



		440



		441



		442



		443



		444



		445



		446



		447



		448



		449



		450



		451



		452



		453



		454



		455



		456



		457



		458



		459



		460



		461



		462



		463



		464



		465



		466



		467



		468



		469











OEBPS/images/logo.jpg





OEBPS/images/cover.jpg
‘Beautifully crafted, ‘An impressive feat
compelling’ of imagination’

Mike Gayle Tracy Chevalier

HILD

Two children separated by almost L’

a century, bound by a secret ...

)

| | 4 |
—

s |






